IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01174

TOMMY MORGAN

APPELLANT/ CROSS-APPELLEE

٧.

GREEN-SAVE, INC., and WALTER J. FLEISHHACKER

APPELLEES/ CROSS-APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT TOMMY MORGAN

William M. Beasley (MB Rachel M. Pierce (MB # PHELPS DUNBAR LLP Seventh Floor, One Mississippi Plaza 201 South Spring Street Tupelo, Mississippi 38804 Post Office Box 1220 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-1220 Telephone: (662) 842-7907

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs in this case sued the defendant Tommy Morgan claiming that Morgan committed fraud by not telling them that a portion of the undeveloped two acres of land they purchased from him for \$32,100 was in a flood plain. Without checking flood plain information which was readily available, plaintiffs had a building constructed on the property which, as a net result of excavation and grading, was one inch lower than it should have been in order to avoid the purchase of flood insurance. Although the Circuit Court conceded that the evidence did not show that Morgan even knew the property was in the flood plain when he sold it, the Court allowed the jury to consider whether Morgan had committed fraud by failing to disclose that fact.

Throughout the trial, the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs' lawyer, and the Court represented that if the jury awarded an amount that would replace the property, that Morgan would get the property back. The jury even sent out a question to the judge asking him to confirm that this was true. Yet, after the jury awarded \$325,000 in compensatory damages, the Court refused to order the return of the property. The result is a double recovery: the plaintiffs continue to own the land that they purchased and the building they constructed at a total cost of \$274,100, and, in addition, now have a judgment for \$325,000.

Because of these and other errors, Morgan has appealed the judgment entered against him to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing Morgan's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict when plaintiffs failed to prove their fraud claims.
- 2. Alternatively, whether the Circuit Court should have granted a new trial because the verdict was against the substantial weight of the evidence, improper evidence was admitted, and the jury was improperly instructed on the issues.

3. Alternatively, whether the judgment should have been remitted to an amount consistent with Mississippi law on damages or otherwise amended so as to prevent the double recovery resulting from the jury's award.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings.

A. Parties and claims.

Morgan, a real estate developer in the Tupelo area, was sued by plaintiffs Green-Save, Inc., and Walter Fleishhacker for fraud. 1:5-10, 1:67-71, 3:74. Fleishhacker is the owner of Green-Save, a corporation that manufactures repair tools for the golf industry. 4:221-22. Green-Save owns the land, purchased from Morgan, which is at issue in this case, but Fleishhacker owns the building that was constructed on the land. 5:377. Plaintiffs contended that Morgan at the time of purchase knowingly failed to disclose that the property was in a flood plain and falsely represented that natural gas would be available to the property. 1:6-8, 4:228-29, 4:232-37, 5:378. The case was submitted to the jury on claims of fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation. 2:123-25, 2:128-29, 2:131-32, 6:531-39.

B. Discussions of Court and plaintiffs regarding return of property to Morgan.

Throughout the trial, over defendants' objections, 4:252-53, R.E. 4, 5:306-31, 5:382-83, 5:415-16, 6:577, the plaintiffs asserted that the jury should award them the costs it would take to purchase another lot, build a new building, and move their business, and that they would then give back the land and the building that they had built to Morgan. In their opening statement, plaintiffs' counsel told the jury that plaintiffs wanted the jury to tell Morgan, "Have your

The jury was also instructed on how to find whether a confidential relationship existed between Morgan and the plaintiffs. 2:133, 6:539. However, none of the other instructions made any reference to such a relationship so there was no guidance to the jury as to the significance of such a finding if it were made. Notably, nowhere in the complaint is there any allegation of a fiduciary or confidential relationship. 1:5-10, 1:70-71. It was not until trial that plaintiffs suddenly announced that they were pursuing such a claim. 5:318. Defendants objected because such a claim had not been pled. 5:322.

building back,[2] have your property back. Make [plaintiffs] whole by letting [them] get property that's out of the flood plain and building [their] building and going on with [their] lives." 3:65 (emphasis deleted). Fleishhacker testified that he wanted "a piece of property out of a flood plain that I can put a building on that is exactly the same as the building I have presently ... [a]nd then I will give Mr. Morgan back his piece of property." 4:251, R.E. 4.

When defense counsel argued that rescission had not been pled and was not a proper remedy in this lawsuit, and that Fleishhacker was asking "to actually be made better off than he would have been had" he not entered into the sale, the Circuit Court stated, "That won't happen," and overruled Morgan's objection to Fleishhacker's testimony. 4:252-53, R.E. 4. Plaintiffs' counsel subsequently asked Fleishhacker, "So as I understand it, you are saying that you don't want that property, Mr. Morgan can have that property and the building on it, and you want the same building on property elsewhere?" and Fleishhacker said, "Yes, sir." 4:253, R.E. 4. See also 4:285 ("I don't want any money. I want Mr. Morgan to put up a building. If he can replace it exactly the way it is for \$200,000, fine. If he can replace it and it costs him more than that, that's fine too. I just want it replaced.").

When Morgan objected to a witness testifying as to the costs to rebuild the building on another lot, a discussion of damages ensued. The Court referred to a case where the plaintiff asked for rescission and for "everybody [to be] put back in their place," 5:308, after which the following exchange between the Court and plaintiffs' counsel occurred:

[Court:] I'm not certain that's the posture we're in here; though I heard Mr. Fleishhacker testify that that would be his desire. That's what he would like to do about this thing. This was at the bench and counsel for the defendant stated that it would in effect be a windfall for Mr. Fleishhacker, and I assured him that wasn't going to happen. I don't think he can recover damages here in the nature of what you're attempting to prove and retain the property.

MR. WICKER [plaintiffs' counsel]: Correct.

² As discussed below, the building was never Morgan's, because it was built by Fleishhacker after Green-Save purchased the property from Morgan.

THE COURT: One or the other.

5:308 (emphasis added).

When arguing the issue of damages the next day, plaintiffs' counsel again referred to returning the property if plaintiff was awarded the money to relocate: "...[M]ake these people whole by putting them someplace else. And this Court, as a matter of equity, can then say, You're not going to keep a double recovery by retaining the property you have." 5:321. See also 5:323-24 (plaintiffs' counsel argues that "it would not make them whole to give them the cost of replicating their building from a 2003 standpoint when they're going to have to do it in 2006, especially if this court is going to return this property to Mr. Morgan, who in all likelihood may find a buyer for it").

Plaintiffs thereafter submitted a jury instruction, rejected by the Court in favor of another damages instruction, which listed the elements to be considered for awarding moving costs which included the statement, "The Court further instructs the jury that if you award such damages, the Plaintiffs will be ordered to convey the subject property and building to the Defendant." 2:143.

In their closing argument to the jury, plaintiffs sought damages in the amount to move their facility to another location. 6:551-52. After discussing various figures, plaintiffs' counsel stated, "That would [be what] it would cost to move. That probably has a value. Let Tommy Morgan sell it, and he can have it. Give Mr. Fleishhacker what it would take to move." 6:552.

During jury deliberations, the jury sent a note to the Court stating, "If damages of \$374,000.00 to relocate were awarded, does the property lot and building of Green-Save go back to Morgan?" 2:166. In discussing the situation with counsel for the parties, the Court stated as follows:

THE COURT: I have received from the jury, who is outside the courtroom considering a verdict in this case, a note which I have had the court reporter mark as Court's 1. I have provided each of you a copy of this. And

while I am – the answer is obviously yes. However, I'm not certain that's the proper response to the jury.

6:583.

After a discussion with counsel for the parties as to an appropriate response to the jury's question, the Court again indicated its intent that if the plaintiffs were awarded relocation damages, the property and building would need to be deeded to Morgan.

THE COURT: Well, and as I indicated early on, in the event of something like this, that's exactly what would happen. It would be resolved. As a matter of fact, if this was the verdict of the jury, on payment of that amount of money I would not disperse it. I would have it paid to the court. I wouldn't disburse it until such time as it would be a closing circumstance where a deed would be delivered and the money released.

6:584.

The Court then issued another instruction to the jury which stated in part, "In the event the Jury returns a verdict as indicated in your note, the Court would enter an appropriate order concerning the property which is the subject of this cause." 2:138, 6:586.

C. The verdict, judgment, and post-trial proceedings.

The jury ultimately returned a verdict against Morgan in the amount of \$325,000.00, and a final judgment was entered in accordance with that verdict. 2:159, 2:161, R.E. 2. Morgan then moved for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or alternatively a new trial, and also requested that the judgment be amended by either reducing the amount of the judgment or having the plaintiffs convey the subject property to Morgan as the Court and plaintiffs had stated they would do to avoid an unjust enrichment to the plaintiffs. 2:162-68. In their response, plaintiffs suddenly argued against returning the property because the jury had awarded \$325,000 instead of

The copy of this motion included in the appeal record at pages 162-168 is missing the third page. A true and correct copy of the full motion, stamped "filed" by the Circuit Clerk, was attached as Exhibit B to the Motion for Remand to Circuit Court filed herein on January 30, 2007, and its contents are not contested by appellees. Should any dispute arise as to Morgan's description of the motion herein, Morgan will move to supplement the record to include this one additional page.

the \$374,000 referenced in the jury's note and requested in plaintiffs' closing. 2:169-75; see also 2:166, 6:551-52. Plaintiffs also filed a Motion for Additur and Attorney's Fees in which they requested punitive damages and attorneys' fees. 2:176-79. The Circuit Court entered an order denying Morgan's motion and stating the judgment was to remain in effect, 2:202, R.E. 3, and Morgan filed his Notice of Appeal. 2:303-04. Plaintiffs thereafter cross-appealed. 2:210-11.

II. Statement of the Facts.

A. Morgan's purchase and development of property.

In 1998, Tommy Morgan purchased over 300 acres of undeveloped land in Lee County, Mississippi. 3:82, Ex. P-1. The property consisted of rolling hills and undeveloped farm land with a mixture of topography. 3:86, 6:458-59, Ex. 3 at pg. 8 of 11. The seller made no mention of any portion of the property being in a flood plain. 6:493.

To finance the purchase of the property, Morgan borrowed funds from BancorpSouth. 3:83, 3:85. A condition of the loan was an independent appraisal by a bank approved appraiser. Mike Guyton appraised the property for the bank and turned his report over to the bank. 3:86, 3:90, Ex. P-3. At page 6 of the report, in the Site Description, there is a notation that "[a]pproximately 20% of the property lies in the F.E.M.M.A. flood map area." Ex. P-3. There is no explanation as to what portion of the 300 acres might be in the flood plain. *Id.* Morgan testified that he did not receive a copy of the appraisal, and Guyton testified that he gave the report to the bank and never discussed the flood plain information with Morgan. 3:86-87, 3:90, 5:436-40. There is no evidence that Morgan saw this report or that the information regarding the flood plain was relayed to him.

Morgan began developing the property. A residential subdivision called The Summit was planned on about 140 acres, with a commercial area referred to as South Ridge Commons on the remainder. 3:84-85, 3:92-93. The development necessitated additional financing which Morgan obtained from Farmers and Merchants Bank. 3:85. Another appraisal report was

prepared by Guyton. 3:439-40, Ex. P-6. Guyton updated his earlier report, and this report also contains a reference that "approximately 20% is in the flood plain area." Ex. P-6 at pg. 8 of 17.

However, the testimony of Morgan, Guyton, and John Haynes, president of Farmers and Merchants Bank, was that Morgan was not given a copy of this appraisal report, nor was he told that any part of the property was in the flood zone. 3:86-87, 3:90, 5:436-40, 5:447-50, 6:451. Indeed, Haynes admitted that he himself had been unaware of the flood plain notation. 6:451. However, he considered it to be inconsequential since the land was undeveloped. 5:450. Development and construction is common in flood plain designated areas of Lee County, as evidenced by testimony that the mall and hospital are both constructed in a flood plain. 6:474-75, 6:477-78, 6:508. Flood plain property can be filled or, if necessary, flood insurance can be purchased. 4:198-99, 5:364-65, 6:475, 6:477.

B. Sale of lot to Green-Save.

Although Morgan and Fleishhacker had played golf a couple of times, 3:98, 4:233, they had never transacted any business nor were they associated in any way. 4:233. Fleishhacker was looking for a location where he could construct a building for his manufacturing business. 4:224. Having seen a sign referencing South Ridge Commons, he contacted Morgan. 5:371. At that time, there were no streets or other development. 4:225, 4:227. Morgan had sold only one piece of property in the commercial area. 3:94, 6:491. Morgan showed Fleishhacker an adjacent lot which consisted of approximately 2 acres. 3:94, 4:163, 4:226, 4:230. Fleishhacker and Morgan agreed on a price of \$32,100.00 (\$15,000/acre x 2.14 acres) for the property and "shook hands and had a deal." 3:110-11, 4:230, 5:388. No written contract was entered, and no earnest money was paid. 4:262-63. There was no discussion about whether the property was in a flood plain. 4:229.

There was a dispute in the testimony as to whether Fleishhacker mentioned to Morgan that he was wanting to convert Green-Save's operations over to natural gas instead of electricity.

Morgan said he did not, but Fleishhacker and the manager of Green-Save, Les Ellis, testified that Fleishhacker did mention this. 3:117, 4:226, 4:228, 5:372-73, 6:485-86. Regardless, the gas company ultimately decided not to run a line to the area and Green-Save continued to operate with electricity which, due to an increase in gas prices, was actually more cost efficient. 4:214, 4:268, 5:394.

Morgan and Green-Save closed on the property in April, 2002, one or two years after the the handshake agreement.⁴ 4:234, 5:333-34, Ex. P-19. Green-Save did not borrow any money to pay for the property. 4:234. In late summer of that year, Fleishhacker began construction. 4:234. Gerald Warfield was hired to build the building. 4:235, 5:301. Neither Warfield nor Fleishhacker made any effort to ascertain the relevant flood plain elevations. 4:270, 5:342-47, 5:350, 5:395-96. The property was partially situated on the side of a sloping hill. 5:304, 5:343. Fleishhacker told Warfield exactly where he wanted to locate the building. 5:302-04. Warfield graded the property to situate the building as instructed, cutting down a portion of the knoll upon which the building was constructed. 5:343, 6:463. No one checked on the flood plain during this excavation and grading. 5:347-48, 5:350.

C. Plaintiff Fleishhacker learns of flood plain.

In November, 2002, Fleishhacker first contacted a bank to obtain financing for the ongoing construction. 4:234. In early December, he was told by the bank that the property was in a flood zone and that the bank could not finance the construction without his purchasing flood insurance at an annual cost of \$2500. 4:234, 4:291-93. He immediately contacted Morgan.

⁴ It is uncertain whether a year or two passed from the time of the initial agreement due to a dispute as to whether the initial meeting occurred in the spring of 2000 or 2001. 4:227, 4:270, 5:374, 6:482.

⁵ Fleishhacker testified that he would have paid approximately \$30,000 over the life of the loan for flood insurance, but that he felt this would have been "a very silly expenditure." 4:294.

4:234. Morgan testified that this was the first time that he had any knowledge of this property being in a flood zone. 3:92-93, 6:493-94.

David Moore, an engineer, was then asked to prepare a flood certificate for the property. 4:181-82, Ex. P-46. He was the same engineer who had designed Morgan's development and was generally familiar with the property. 4:157. Moore testified that he had no knowledge that the property purchased by Green-Save was situated in a flood plain until after he completed the certification. 4:193. Moore testified that it was the responsibility of the person siting the building to obtain information regarding elevations and flood plains. 4:194-95. He noted that flood insurance was not required even if you build in a flood plain as long as the floor of the structure is at least one foot above the designated flood plain elevation. 4:198. He found that the plaintiff's building constructed by Warfield was eleven inches above the flood plain, one inch short of the requirement. 4:198. The building could easily have been constructed one inch higher had Warfield not cut down the knoll where the building was sited, and insurance would not even have been required. 6:463. Moreover, FEMA might have issued a slight map revision or amendment to accommodate for the small disparity, 4:198-99, but Fleishhacker did not pursue this option. 4:295, 4:238. Moore's office manager testified that their office routinely fills out the necessary forms to request such action from FEMA, and that "[i]t's generally not a large problem," and is "generally done." 5:426, 5:432.

D. Plaintiffs' evidence regarding damages.

Damages in cases such as this should be based on the difference in value between the property as sold and the property as represented. See Section II.B, infra. The lot was purchased

⁶ Fleishhacker placed one phone call to FEMA and was told that property three or four feet below the flood plain elevation would not "have had a chance to come out on an exception." 4:238, 4:295. In discussing property a few feet below the flood plain, Fleishhacker was presumably referring to that part of his property that did not contain the Green-Save facility. Apparently that portion of the property is at a lower grade, but could have been filled in so as to raise it above the one-foot above the flood plain elevation. 6:464-65.

for \$32,100.00. 3:110-11, 4:230, 5:388, Ex. P-18. There was no proof as to the actual value of the lot.

Plaintiffs' expert, Janice Holley, testified that she was unable to testify as to what the value of the property was. Although she could state that the property had some value, she had no evidence, or criteria, upon which to base an opinion as to how much that value would be. 5:360-61. Ms. Holley also testified that if the property were "raised up enough so that it was one foot above the base level elevation, that the property probably would have been worth the price that was paid for it." 5:362-63. She agreed that if the building were above the flood plain, it would have more value, 5:364, and agreed that the cost of flood insurance over the life of the loan (\$30,000) would be a figure used to diminish the value of the property as a penalty for its being in a flood plain. 5:364. See also 5:366-67 (agrees to general statement that if someone has a new building and is operating their business normally, the cost of the building is not depreciated other than by the additional cost of the flood insurance).

Plaintiffs, over the objection of defendants, introduced into evidence the costs to buy another lot and build another building. Warfield "guestimated" that the total cost to build the Green-Save facility was around \$242,000. 5:331. In closing, plaintiffs presented their requested costs as follows: \$59,000 to purchase another lot they had located, \$269,000 to build another building, another \$24,000 for landscaping costs, \$5000 for floor coverings, and \$6000 for

⁷ In her written report, Holley had stated that she could not determine the value because the building was below the flood plain. 5:363. On redirect, she stated that her opinion would change if the building were up above the flood plain itself but not up to the foot that is required by FEMA. 5:367.

⁸ See 4:250.

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