#### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2006-A-01174

**TOMMY MORGAN** 

APPELLANT/ CROSS-APPELLEE

v.

GREEN-SAVE, INC., and WALTER J. FLEISHHACKER

APPELLEES/ CROSS-APPELLANTS

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES AND CROSS-APPELLANTS, GREEN-SAVE, INC., and WALTER J. FLEISHHACKER

THOMAS A. WICKER (MSB# HOLLAND, RAY, UPCHURCH & HILLEN, P.A. 322 JEFFERSON STREET POST OFFICE DRAWER 409 TUPELO, MS 39902-0409 TELEPHONE: (662) 842-1721

Attorney of Record for Appellees Green-Save, Inc., and Walter J. Fleishhacker

#### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2006-A-01174

TOMMY MORGAN

**APPELLANT** 

v.

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Appellant seeks to set aside the jury's verdict on the issue of liability by claiming that there is insufficient evidence to support a finding of fraud. However, an attack on the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict in this case must fail unless the Appellant can demonstrate that, as a matter of law, the jury's verdict fails to support liability. In the instant case, the jury had available to it evidence which, while circumstantial, was undisputed relative to the Appellant's access to appraisals going back as far as 1998, from which he would have known, as an experienced real estate developer, that the property in question was located in a flood plain. The jury also had available to it evidence that the Appellant's engineer did know that the property was in a flood plain, and that the Appellant himself had given instructions to his engineer as to the location of the lot in question some time prior to September of the year 2000, at least six months prior to first meeting with the Plaintiff's.

Such circumstantial evidence, standing alone, would support a finding that the Plaintiff knew the property was in a flood plain prior to his meetings with the Plaintiffs. In addition, however, the Plaintiff was impeached with his deposition testimony at trial in which he stated that either prior to or following the initial meeting in 2001, he learned from his engineer, David Moore, that the property was in a flood plain. At trial, the Appellant attempted to equate his deposition testimony with his position at trial that he did not learn of the property being in a flood plain until December of 2002, some fifteen months following his initial meeting with the Plaintiffs.

Combined with the Appellant's blatant attempt to manufacture evidence during the course of the trial, in effect attempting to perpetrate a fraud on the Court, the jury was more than justified in concluding that the circumstantial evidence was clear and convincing relative to the Appellant's knowledge of the flood plain.

With regard to misrepresentations relative to the provision of natural gas, the jury simply chose to believe the testimony of Les Ellis and Walter Fleishhacker rather than that of Tommy Morgan. Resolution by the jury of such factual disputes should rarely, if ever, be disturbed on appeal.

With regard to the issue of the Appellant's duty to the Plaintiffs, particularly with regard to remaining silent regarding his knowledge of the location of the subject property in a flood plain, it should be noted that he was more than a mere seller, but was the developer of a purported commercial subdivision, that he made specific representations with regard to the proposed character of the surrounding area, including the development of light industrial facilities to the East, at a lower elevation than the subject property, and provided the Plaintiffs with Restrictive Covenants and a sufficient common interest in the property that the Appellant

exercised a degree of control over the manner in which the Plaintiffs' building was ultimately situated on the subject property.

Because the evidence supports a finding of liability, the only remaining claim by the Appellant on appeal would relate to damages. In this regard, the Appellant seeks in this appeal to either obtain a new trial on remand, or a reduction or modification of the judgment. As will be demonstrated more particularly below, granting the reduction or modification suggested by the Appellant would result in aggravating the loss already sustained by the Plaintiffs to such an extent so as to constitute a true miscarriage of justice. Because the award in favor of the Plaintiffs can arguably be shown to fail in making them whole, the Appellant's contention that they have been awarded a double recovery is simply without merit.

Finally, on cross appeal, the Plaintiffs' urge that the fraud committed by the Appellant, exacerbated by his attempted fraud on the Court in the midst of the trial in this cause, warranted submission of the case to the jury on the issue of punitive damages. Because the nature of the Appellant's fraud also justifies an award of attorney's fees, it is respectfully submitted that, if the case is to be remanded to the Circuit Court, it should be for the sole purpose of consideration of punitive damages and an award of attorney's fees.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

The Plaintiff appeals from a denial of his Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, and also appeals the Trial Court's denial of his Alternative Motion for a New Trial or for Remittitur.

A Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict, not the weight or credibility of the evidence. *Tharp v. Bunge* 

Corp., 641 So.2d 20, 23 (Miss. 1994). Such a Motion asks the Court to hold, as a matter of law, that the verdict may not stand. Goodwin v. Derryberry Co. 553 So.2d 40, 42 (Miss. 1989); Stubblefield v. JESCO, Inc., 464 So.2d 47, 54 (Miss. 1984). When considering a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, the Trial Court must consider all of the evidence – not just the evidence which supports the non-movant's case – in the light most favorable to the party opposed to the Motion. White v. Yellow Freight System, Inc., 905 So.2d 506, 510 (Miss. 2004). Accordingly, the evidence is to be construed in the light most favorable to Walter Fleishhacker and Green-Save, giving them the benefit of all favorable inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey, 878 So. 2d 31, 54 (¶105) (Miss. 2004).

As will be shown more particularly below, the jury was correctly instructed on the issue of fraud and on the burden of clear and convincing evidence necessary to establish fraud, and the record discloses evidence which supports the jury's finding that Tommy Morgan in fact committed fraud.

With regard to the Motion for New Trial, the Trial Court will not be reversed absent a showing of abuse of discretion. *JESCO, Inc., v. Whitehead,* 451 So.2d 706, 714 (Miss. 1984). As will be discussed more particularly below, the Trial Court did not abuse it's discretion in denying a new trial because the jury's verdict was supported by the evidence and there has been no showing that the judgment in this case is a miscarriage of justice.

Finally, the standard of review relative to granting a remittitur is also one involving an "abuse of discretion" threshold. *Entergy Mississippi, Inc., v. Bolden,* 854 So.2d 1051, 1058 (¶20) (Miss. 2003). There is no basis for a holding that the Trial Court abused its discretion in denying the Motion for Remittitur.

## I. The Evidence Established That Tommy Morgan Committed A Fraud.

The elements of fraud are as follows:

"(1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of the truth; (5) his intent that it should be acted on by the hearer and in the manner reasonably contemplated; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) his reliance on its truth; (8) his right to rely thereon; and (9) his consequent and proximate injury."

Hobbs Auto, Inc., v. Dorsey, 914 So.2d 148, 153 (¶18) (Miss. 2005).

The elements of intentional misrepresentation are identical to the elements of fraud. Southeastern Medical Supply v. Boyles, Moak & Brickell Ins., 822 So.2d 323, 331 (¶29) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

The evidence establishes that Tommy Morgan fraudulently concealed knowledge that the property in question was in a flood plain.

It is true that Tommy Morgan did not affirmatively state to either Walter Fleishhacker or Les Ellis that the subject property was not in a flood plain. He did, however, affirmatively state that the lot which he was showing to them was a part of South Ridge Commons, a commercial subdivision that he was developing adjacent to The Summit, a residential subdivision that he was also developing. He affirmatively stated that commercial and retail businesses would be the subject of lot sales to the West of the Green-Save lot (which was in the direction of higher elevations) and that lots to the East of Green-Save would be developed for light industrial business purposes (the property to the East of the Green-Save lot being at a lower elevation). Tommy Morgan knew that the property was in a flood zone at the time he made those statements, and he had an affirmative duty to disclose that information to the Plaintiffs. *Mabus v. St. James Episcopal Church*, 884 So.2d 747, 762 (¶32) (Miss. 2004);

Guastella v. Wardell, 198 So.2d 227, 230 (Miss. 1967); and Davidson v. Rogers, 431 So.2d 483, 485 (Miss. 1983).

The evidence is undisputed that Tommy Morgan represented that the property in question was part of a commercial subdivision being developed by him and that the property to the East of the Green-Save lot was going to be developed for light industrial purposes. No further affirmative act on his part was required with regard to an allegation of fraudulent concealment. *Id*.

Tommy Morgan also provided Les Ellis and Walter Fleishhacker with a copy of the Restrictive Covenants which would apply to the commercial subdivision prior to the agreement by Green-Save to purchase the property in question. In doing so, Tommy Morgan, as the developer of the commercial subdivision, was retaining a degree of interest and control over the future development and use of the property. As the developer, he had an interest as expressed in the Restrictive Covenants as to the character of the commercial subdivision. As purchasers and future occupants of the property, Green-Save and Walter Fleishhacker had a common interest with Tommy Morgan in the establishment and enforcement of those Restrictive Covenants.

As purchasers and future occupants of the property, Green-Save and Walter Fleishhacker had a right to repose trust in the developer of the subdivision relative to their common interest in the nature and character of the subdivision. Les Ellis testified that, prior to finalizing their decision to purchase the property, he disclosed to Tommy Morgan the nature of the proposed manufacturing facilities and the fact that the company employed heavy presses, because he wanted to be sure that the proposed use of the property would fit in with Tommy Morgan's vision of the commercial subdivision development. Walter Fleishhacker

į

also testified that Tommy Morgan had a say in the siting and landscaping of Green-Save's facility (4:248). The evidence disclosed that, when questions arose about the provision of natural gas, copies of the survey plat, questions pertaining to contour drawings, Green-Save repeatedly turned to Tommy Morgan, who did not refuse to deal with these issues, but referred them to his engineer, David Moore, or to his partner, Morgan Whitfield, for answers to the questions. Tommy Morgan knew, as the developer, that the Plaintiffs were looking to him in this regard. In short, the evidence is more than clear and convincing that a confidential relationship was established between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant in this case. *Memphis Hardwood Flooring Co. v. Daniel, 771* So.2d 924, 931 (¶21) (Miss. 2000). In addition to Tommy Morgan's liability for fraud, he would therefore also be liable for breach of the fiduciary duty arising out of that confidential relationship. *Id.* 

In both scenarios, the Plaintiffs are required to demonstrate that Tommy Morgan had knowledge that the property was in a flood plain. This knowledge can be established by either direct evidence, or by circumstantial evidence.

Tommy Morgan contends on appeal that there was no evidence that he had knowledge that the property was in a flood plain prior to December of 2002, when Walter Fleishhacker first learned of the flood plain problem. According to Tommy Morgan's argument on appeal, the only evidence which would suffice to demonstrate his knowledge beyond the realm of speculation would be a frank admission on his part or a witness who could come and testify that Tommy Morgan was affirmatively told that the property was in a flood plain. As this Court is aware, such direct evidence of fraud is rarely available.

The circumstantial evidence, however, is compelling in this case.

First, when Tommy Morgan testified as an adverse witness in the Plaintiffs' case, he was questioned about his deposition testimony in which he stated:

"I learned [about the flood plain] a little prior to - - I don't know if it was prior to the contract, our agreeing to sell the lot, but I was informed by David - - by Moore Engineering who did the engineering on The Summit, and they informed me part of that was. And it was the same bottom [as South Ridge Commons]."

## (2:136, Lines 14-19.)

Now, the testimony of the Plaintiffs (and Tommy Morgan up until the third day of the trial) was that they reached a verbal agreement relative to purchasing the property in the Spring of 2001.

The survey plat of the property ultimately purchased by Green-Save, was prepared, according to the plat, in March of 2000. Even assuming that this plat was incorrectly dated, David Moore faxed a copy in September of 2000. (See, Exhibits 8 & 44, 4:163:8-28). In his cross examination testimony on the third day of trial, Morgan was again asked about his deposition testimony, at Page 10 of his deposition, wherein he testified that he believed that Fleishhacker was correct that the conversations regarding the sale occurred in the Spring of 2001 with a handshake, with the property being closed the following year (6:517:1-6).

So, Morgan initially testified in his deposition that he learned that part of the property was in a flood plain "prior to", but he's not certain that it was prior to the agreement, but that he learned of it from his engineer who was doing the engineering on The Summit, which adjoined South Ridge Commons and shared the same bottom land. At the time of his deposition, in other words, Tommy Morgan wasn't certain whether he learned of the flood plain prior to his agreement with Walter Fleishhacker in 2001 or subsequent to this agreement with Walter Fleishhacker. It would require a stretch of the imagination to the breaking point

for a jury to believe – given this testimony – that Tommy Morgan didn't learn of the flood plain until some year and a half after the agreement in 2001.

Second, the Plaintiffs' assert that two appraisals available to Tommy Morgan that both stated that approximately twenty percent of the property that he bought in 1998 from Arthur Cenac was in a flood plain. Morgan bought the property from Arthur Cenac in April, 1998 for \$540,000.00. (3:82:11-28). The total cost of acquiring the property equated to a purchase price of approximately \$1,700.00 per acre. (3:107:6-12). That same month, the property was appraised for BancorpSouth by Mike Guyton as being worth \$7,500.00 per acre. (3:109, Exhibit 3). It would certainly not be unreasonable to conclude from this evidence that Tommy Morgan would have been aware, as a developer with more than thirty-five years experience, that he had purchased property for \$1,700.00 per acre that, even before it was developed, was being valued at \$7,500.00 per acre. What would be unreasonable would be to assume that Tommy Morgan was *not* aware of that appraisal.

The same could be said about the appraisal prepared by Mike Guyton for Farmers and Merchants Bank in August of 2001.

Third, as the developer of both The Summit and South Ridge Commons, Tommy Morgan was involved in the layout of the streets and lots in the subdivision (see, David Moore's testimony at 4:202 and 203). He testified that he had knowledge, as a developer with thirty years experience regarding the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality and that agency's requirement that street manholes and sewer layout be submitted for approval. He testified that "my engineer" would have done that, referring to David Moore of Moore Engineering (3:130).

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